Advancing the global agenda on prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2000 to 2020

Looking forwards to 2030



Advancing the global agenda on prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2000 to 2020

Looking forwards to 2030



Advancing the global agenda on prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2000 to 2020: looking forwards to 2030

ISBN 978-92-4-007269-5 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-007270-1 (print version)

#### © World Health Organization 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

**Suggested citation.** Advancing the global agenda on prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2000 to 2020: looking forwards to 2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

**Sales, rights and licensing.** To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

**Third-party materials.** If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

This publication contains the report of the third meeting of the WHO Technical Advisory Group on Diabetes and does not necessarily represent the decisions or policies of WHO.

# Contents

Ac	kno	wledgements	V			
Ab	brev	viations	vi			
1. Introduction						
2.	NC	Ds: where the world stands today	2			
	2.1	The growing global burden of NCDs	2			
	2.2	Risk of premature death from NCDs	5			
3.	Who	ere does the world want to be by 2030?	6			
4.	Ste	ps taken to date	8			
	4.1	2000: the global strategy for prevention and control of NCDs	8			
	4.2	2001–2010: the first 10 years of the strategy	8			
	4.3	2011: a significant start in the fight against NCDs	10			
	4.4	2011–2021: a decade of action	10			
		4.4.1 Global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020	11			
		4.4.2 UN high-level meetings on NCDs	13			
		4.4.3 The SDGs and NCDs: where do we stand?	13			
		4.4.4 Primary health care, universal health coverage and NCDs	16			
		4.4.5 Contribution of non-State actors and the private sector	17			
5.	Mid	l-point evaluation of the global action plan 2013-2020	18			
6.	Exte	ension of the global action plan to 2030	22			
7.	Glo	bal accountability framework	25			
8.	Del	ivering on commitments	30			
	8.1	Challenges	32			
	8.2	Giving priority to very cost-effective, high-impact NCD interventions	33			
9.	Μο	ving towards 2030	36			
	9.1	The role of WHO and its technical assistance to support national efforts	36			
	9.2	Signature solutions	37			
	9.3	Implementation road map 2023–2030	38			
Re	fere	ences	40			

# **Tables**

Table 1.	Deaths from NCDs by age group	4
Table 2.	Global action plan 2013–2020: six objectives	11
Table 3.	Nine voluntary global NCD targets*	12
Table 4.	Examples of opportunities for leveraging intersectoral actions to improve health and achieve other SDG and NCD targets	15
Table 5.	<b>Recommendations of the mid-term evaluation of the</b> <i>Global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020</i>	18
Table 6.	Updated voluntary global NCD targets	23
Table 7.	Global action plan indicators	26
Table 9.	Percentage of countries implementing global action plan, 2013 compared with 2021	28
Table 10.	Percentage of countries in which commitment fulfilment progress (COM) indicators are fully achieved, 2015 compared with 2021	29
Table 11.	Reports of progress made in prevention and control of NCDs 2010–2021	30
Table 12.	NCD best buys	33
Table 13.	WHO technical packages	37

# **Figures**

Fig. 1.	Increase in global deaths due to NCDs and mental health (2000–2019)	2
Fig. 2.	Leading causes of death (2000 and 2019)	3
Fig. 3.	Deaths from NCDs in those aged 30–70 years	4
Fig. 4.	The risk of dying from a major NCD aged 30–70 years (2000–2019)	5
Fig. 5.	The NCD framework	7

# Acknowledgements

The World Health Organization (WHO) wishes to acknowledge Dr Shanthi Mendis for preparing this document, with input from staff in WHO regional offices and WHO headquarters.

# **Abbreviations**

AARR	annual average rate of reduction
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CVD	cardiovascular disease
ECOSOC	United Nations Economic and Social Council
LMIC	low- and middle-income country
NCD	noncommunicable disease
РНС	primary health care
SDG	sustainable development goal
UHC	universal health coverage
UN	United Nations
UNGA	United Nations General Assembly
UNIATF	United Nations Inter-Agency Task Force on the Prevention and Control of NCDs
WHA	World Health Assembly
WHO	World Health Organization

# CHAPTER 1 Introduction

This document highlights landmarks and key milestones in the development and implementation of the global agenda for noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) over the last two decades. It summarizes where the world was in 2000, where it is in 2022, and where the world wants to be in terms of NCD prevention and control by 2030. It recalls the commitments made by heads of state and governments, and outlines the technical guidance provided by the World Health Organization (WHO) in support of national efforts to achieve the internationally agreed NCD targets for 2025 and 2030.

## CHAPTER 2

# NCDs: where the world stands today

## 2.1 The growing global burden of NCDs

Tackling the rapidly growing global burden of NCDs constitutes one of the major challenges for development in the 21st century. During the first two decades of the century, while global deaths due to communicable diseases declined those due to NCDs and mental health rapidly increased (Fig. 1). The global share of NCD deaths among all deaths increased from 61% in 2000 to 74% in 2019 *(6)*.



Fig. 1. Increase in global deaths due to NCDs and mental health (2000–2019)

Source: Global Health Estimates 2000–2019. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/data/global-health-estimates).

Fig. 2. Leading causes of death (2000 and 2019)



Source: The top 10 causes of death. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020.

At a global level, seven of the 10 leading causes of deaths in 2019 were NCDs (Fig. 2) (2). People are at their most economically productive between the ages of 30 and 70, and the death of people in that age group caused by NCDs (considered "premature deaths") is rapidly increasing (Table 1, Fig. 3) (3). Cardiovascular diseases continue to be the NCDs that claim the largest number of lives among people in that age group (4). The majority of premature deaths from NCDs (85%) in 2019 occurred in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (3).

#### Table 1. Deaths from NCDs by age group

NCD deaths (age)	2000 (millions)	2010 (millions)	2015 (millions)	2019 (millions)
>70 years	16.8	19.9	21.8	23.8
30–70 years	12.7	13.7	14.7	15.7
<30 years	1.7	1.5	1.4	1.4
Total deaths	31.2	35.1	37.9	40.9

Source: SDG Target 3.4 Reduce by one third premature mortality from non-communicable diseases through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Fig. 3. Deaths from NCDs in those aged 30–70 years



Source: SDG Target 3.4 Reduce by one third premature mortality from non-communicable diseases through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization.

## 2.2 Risk of premature death from NCDs

Although the risk of dying between the ages of 30 and 70 years from NCDs (cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes and chronic respiratory disease) diminished at the start of the century (5), this rate of progress has not been sustained (Fig. 4). The global annual average rate of reduction (AARR) in premature NCD mortality has declined by 30% since 2015, to just below 1% (from the 1.4% observed in 2000 to 2015) (6). WHO regions that had already achieved relatively low premature NCD mortality by 2019 show the fastest decline in the annualized rate of reduction since 2015. The decline was up to 40% in the WHO Region of the Americas and the WHO Western Pacific Region, and up to 30% in the WHO European Region.





Source: Baselines and projections of GPW13 indicators: technical note. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021.

Premature mortality from NCDs parallels, and can partly be attributed to, a lack of success in addressing many NCD risk factors. Although tobacco use is steadily declining, the prevalence of obesity is on the rise. Reduction in harmful alcohol consumption has stagnated globally (4) and is increasing in the Region of the Americas, the South-East Asia Region and the Western Pacific Region (4).

## **CHAPTER 3**

# Where does the world want to be by 2030?

Currently, the world is striving to reduce premature mortality due to NCDs by one third by 2030 (Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) target 3.4.1) (7). Global voluntary NCD targets have also been set to reduce tobacco use, harmful use of alcohol, and physical inactivity, halt the rise of obesity and diabetes, reduce the prevalence of hypertension (including through reduction of population salt intake), prevent heart attacks and strokes using a total risk approach to control hypertension and diabetes, and improve access to basic technologies and essential medicines. Despite scores of commitments made by heads of state and governments, the progress in attaining these targets during the last two decades has been insufficient and uneven. Since 2020, the complexities of addressing the COVID-19 pandemic and disruptions in NCD services related to screening, prevention, treatment and rehabilitation (*8*) have further undermined the advancement of the NCD action agenda (Fig. 5) throughout the world. Although 136 countries reported that NCD services have been disrupted during the COVID-19 pandemic, only 107 have included NCDs in national COVID-19 recovery plans.

The challenge of reaching SDG target 3.4.1 on NCDs was already significant even before the COVID-19 pandemic emerged, due to multiple obstacles outlined in many reports of the WHO (9) and the UN General Assembly (10). Key obstacles include weak policy support, inadequate capacity of ministries of health to address commercial determinants of health and implement tax-related measures, industry interference in attempts to reduce risk factors, the difficulties of scaling up NCD care due to weak capacity of health systems, and lack of interest in increasing international finance and domestic resources.

#### Fig. 5. The NCD framework

By 2030, reduce by one third premature mortality from NCDs



Source: Department of Noncommunicable Diseases, WHO.

## CHAPTER 4

# Steps taken to date

## 4.1 2000: the global strategy for prevention and control of NCDs

In May 2000, the World Health Assembly (WHA) endorsed a global strategy for the prevention and control of NCDs (resolution WHA53.17) *(11)* in order to provide guidance to Member States, international partners and WHO on how to tackle NCDs in a sustainable manner. The strategy presented countries with a pragmatic public health approach for addressing NCDs by focusing on four major NCDs (cancer, cardiovascular disease, chronic respiratory disease and diabetes) that can be prevented by mitigating four modifiable risk behaviours (tobacco use, harmful use of alcohol, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet), which they share: the 4 x 4 NCD framework. The global NCD strategy recognizes that the NCD burden cannot be addressed in a sustainable manner by focusing on a single disease or a single risk factor. It also reiterates the critical need for a synergistic combination of population-level policy approaches and interventions at the level of the health system to prevent and control NCDs. Further, the strategy emphasizes the importance of social determinants of health and the potential for preventing NCDs by reducing the exposure of populations to lifestyle and environmental risk factors throughout the life-course.

## 4.2 2001–2010: the first 10 years of the strategy

The 10 years that followed the endorsement of the global NCD strategy witnessed major policy developments and strategic initiatives that further supported Member States in tackling the NCD epidemic. They include:

- the WHO framework convention on tobacco control (WHO FCTC), adopted by the World Health Assembly (WHA) in 2003 (12);
- the global strategy on diet, physical activity and health, endorsed by the WHA in 2004 (13);
- the global strategy for the prevention and control of NCDs, endorsed by the WHA in 2008 (14) and published as the 2008–2013 action plan for the global strategy for the prevention and control of NCDs (15);
- the global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol, adopted by the WHA in 2010 (16); and
- the UN General Assembly resolution on the prevention and control of NCDs, adopted in 2010 (17), calling for a high-level meeting of the General Assembly in September 2011, with the participation of heads of state and government (18).

In addition, in *The world health report 2002*, WHO drew the attention of the world to the results of one of the largest research projects ever undertaken by WHO on risks to health *(19)*. The report quantifies the disease, disability and death that can be attributed to selected risk factors: tobacco, high blood pressure, high blood cholesterol, excessive alcohol consumption, obesity,

physical inactivity, underweight, unsafe water, poor sanitation and hygiene, unsafe sex, iron deficiency and indoor smoke from solid fuels. Results showed how disease prevention, including NCD prevention, can best be achieved through concerted efforts to identify and reduce common major risks in an integrated fashion and by taking advantage of the prevention opportunities they present. The report put forward the best available evidence on costs and effectiveness of interventions to reduce these risks, and demonstrated how tackling major risks could improve global health much more than is generally realized.

The report showed that, at the individual level, targeting interventions for people with a combination of risk factors – such as smoking, overweight, hypertension and diabetes, which often occur as comorbidities – is more cost effective than treating risk factors such as hypertension and high cholesterol one by one. In order to enable all countries to apply the absolute risk approach to reduce the incidence of heart attacks and strokes, using hypertension and diabetes as entry points, WHO developed cardiovascular risk prediction charts (20). These risk charts have been recently updated to improve accuracy of risk assessment (21), and are used in the WHO package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions (22) and HEARTs primary health care technical packages (23) (see section 9.1) in order to operationalize the health system best buy intervention (see Table 12).

As summarized in WHO global reports on NCDs published in 2005 (24), 2010 (25) and 2014 (26), a growing body of evidence demonstrates that specific intervention strategies can effectively address NCDs and their underlying risk factors. Population-level interventions include measures to encourage reduced consumption of tobacco, alcohol, salt, fat and sugar and increased physical activity. Interventions aimed at individuals include the prevention and management of heart disease, strokes, diabetes and chronic obstructive lung disease, and the early detection and treatment of cancer. The combined cost of implementing these population- and individual-based measures, however, was not well established by 2010. This information gap impeded the mobilization of necessary resources and planning at global and national levels.

To inform international policy dialogue and the UN high-level meeting on NCDs in 2011, analyses were conducted for the first time to fill information gaps on what specific impact NCDs might have on economic growth and the global price tag for mitigating this impact. Two studies were done. They shed light on:

- the size of the problem economic analysis by the World Economic Forum and the Harvard School of Public Health identified the sizeable economic burden of NCDs on societies (27); and
- possible solutions and their cost analysis by WHO identified a set of affordable, feasible and cost-effective intervention strategies (NCD "best buys") and estimated a global price tag for implementing them (28).

The findings were brought together in a report to equip decision-makers in government, civil society and the private sector at the time of the first UN high-level meeting with key economic insights needed to help reduce the growing burden of NCDs (29).

Based on these studies, under a "business as usual" scenario in which intervention efforts remain static and rates of NCDs continue to increase as populations grow and age, cumulative economic

losses to low- and middle-income countries from the four major NCDs are estimated to surpass US\$7 trillion over the period 2011 to 2025 (an average of nearly US\$500 billion per year). On a perperson basis, the annual losses amount to an average of US\$25 in low-income countries, US\$50 in lower middle-income countries and US\$139 in upper middle-income countries.

By contrast, findings from the WHO study indicate that the price tag for scaled-up implementation of a core set of NCD "best buy" intervention strategies is comparatively low. Population-based measures for reducing tobacco and harmful alcohol use, unhealthy diet and physical inactivity, are estimated to cost US\$2 billion per year for all low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) – less than US\$0.40 per person. Individual-based NCD "best buy" interventions – which range from counselling and drug therapy for cardiovascular disease to measures to prevent cervical cancer – bring the total annual cost to US\$11.4 billion. On a per-person basis, the annual investment ranges from under US\$1 in low-income countries to US\$3 in upper-middle-income countries. In health terms, the return on this investment will be many millions of avoided premature deaths. In economic terms, the return will be many billions of dollars of additional output. This work has subsequently been expanded in more recent analyses (*30*), (*31*).

## 4.3 2011: a significant start in the fight against NCDs

In September 2011, at the UN high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of NCDs, heads of state and governments acknowledged that NCDs undermine social and economic development throughout the world and recognized the primary role and responsibility of governments in responding to the challenge by engaging all sectors of society (*32*). It was a significant beginning in the fight against NCDs and provided the impetus for placing NCDs high on the global political, health and development agendas.

The political declaration of the high-level meeting called upon WHO, as the lead UN specialized agency for health, and all other relevant UN system agencies, funds and programmes, the international financial institutions, development banks and other key international organizations to work together in a coordinated manner to support national efforts to prevent and control NCDs and mitigate their impacts.

## 4.4 2011-2021: a decade of action

After the political declaration was endorsed in 2011, governments, ministries of health, international agencies and civil society organizations rallied behind the commitments made by the heads of state and governments. In the outcome document of the UN Conference on Sustainable Development, *The future we want*, the UN General Assembly also acknowledged that the global burden of NCDs constitutes one of the major challenges for development in the 21st century (*33*). In July 2012, the first report of the UN System Task Team on the Post-2015 Development Agenda identified addressing NCDs as a priority for social development and investments in people in the post-2015 development agenda (*34*). In May 2013, *A new global partnership*, the report of the high-level panel of eminent persons on the post-2015 development agenda, included an illustrative target to reduce the burden of disease from HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria, neglected tropical diseases and priority NCDs (*35*). The panel chose

to focus on health outcomes in this goal, recognizing that the achievement of the outcomes requires universal access to basic health care. In July 2013, *A life of dignity for all*, a report of the Secretary-General on advancing the UN development agenda beyond 2015, noted that bringing this vision to life in the post-2015 era will require a number of bold and transformative actions in all countries to reduce the burden of NCDs (*36*).

In January 2012, the WHO Executive Board adopted resolution EB130.R7 on prevention and control of NCDs (*37*). It requested that the Director-General develop a WHO action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs for 2013–2020, building on lessons learnt from the 2008–2013 action plan and taking into account the outcomes of the 2011 UN high-level meeting (*32*), the Moscow Declaration on Healthy Lifestyles and NCD Control (*38*), the Rio Declaration on Social Determinants of Health (*39*), and WHO's existing strategies and tools on tobacco use, harmful use of alcohol, unhealthy diet and physical inactivity.

#### 4.4.1 Global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020

In 2013, the Sixty-sixth World Health Assembly, in resolution WHA66.10 *(40)*, endorsed the Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020. The Executive Board adopted decision EB132(1) *(41)*, in which it decided to endorse the comprehensive global monitoring framework, including indicators and a set of voluntary global targets for the prevention and control of NCDs *(42)*. The global target on reducing premature mortality had been adopted by the WHA a year earlier. The global monitoring framework was endorsed by the Sixty-sixth World Health Assembly (A66/8), together with the Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020 *(43)*. The *Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020 (44)* has six objectives (Table 2). It provides Member States, international partners and WHO with a roadmap and menu of policy options to be implemented collectively between 2013 and 2020, to contribute to progress on nine voluntary global NCD targets to be attained in 2025, including a 25% relative reduction in premature mortality from NCDs by 2025 (Table 3).

Objective 1	To raise the priority accorded to the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases in global, regional and national agendas and internationally agreed development goals, through strengthened international cooperation and advocacy
Objective 2	To strengthen national capacity, leadership, governance, multisectoral action and partnerships to accelerate country response for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases
Objective 3	To reduce modifiable risk factors for noncommunicable diseases and underlying social determinants through creation of health-promoting environments
Objective 4	To strengthen and orient health systems to address the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases and the underlying social determinants through people-centred primary health care and universal health coverage
Objective 5	To promote and support national capacity for high-quality research and development for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases
Objective 6	To monitor the trends and determinants of noncommunicable diseases and evaluate progress in their prevention and control

Table 2	Clobal action	nlan 2012	2020. civ	objectives
Table Z.	Global action	pian 2013	-ZUZU. SIX	objectives

WHO's regional committees for Africa, the Americas, Europe, Eastern Mediterranean, South-East Asia, and Western Pacific have adopted regional policy frameworks consistent with the NCD global action plan to further advance ongoing NCD work (45), (46), (47), (48), (49), (50).

The global monitoring framework for the prevention and control of NCDs adopted by the WHA in 2013 outlined a set of targets and indicators to be used in the monitoring of trends and assessment of progress made in the implementation of national strategies and plans on NCDs. The monitoring framework has 25 indicators which focus on the key NCD outcomes, risk factor exposures and national health systems response needed to prevent and control NCDs. Nine areas were selected from the 25 indicators in the global monitoring framework to be the nine NCD voluntary targets (Table 3). In calculating these targets, the historical performance of the top-ranked 10th percentile of countries was assessed to help set the level of achievement considered possible. Targets were set for 2025, with a baseline of 2010.

#### Table 3. Nine voluntary global NCD targets

1.		A 25% relative reduction in the overall mortality from cardiovascular disease (CVD), cancer, diabetes or chronic respiratory disease <sup>a</sup>
2.		At least 10% relative reduction in the harmful use of alcohol <sup>a</sup>
3.	K	A 10% relative reduction in prevalence of insufficient physical activity <sup>a</sup>
4.		A 30% relative reduction in mean population intake of salt/sodium
5.	$\bigcirc$	A 30% relative reduction in prevalence of current tobacco use
6.	<b>B</b>	A 25% relative reduction in the prevalence of raised blood pressure or to contain the prevalence of raised blood pressure
7.	-	Halt the rise in diabetes and obesity
8.		At least 50% of eligible people (aged 40 years and older with a 10-year cardiovascular risk ≥20%) including those with CVD to receive drug therapy and counselling (including glycaemic control) to prevent heart attacks and strokes
9.	ē.	An 80% availability of the affordable basic technologies and essential medicines, including generics, required to treat major noncommunicable diseases in both public and private facilities

<sup>a</sup> Global targets 1, 2 and 3 have been recently updated, see Table 6.

The global status report on prevention and control of NCDs (2014) (26), is framed around the nine voluntary global targets. The report provides data on the 2014 situation, identifying bottlenecks as well as opportunities and priority actions for attaining the targets. The report also provided the 2010 baseline estimates on NCD mortality and risk factors so that countries can report on progress, starting in 2015.

#### 4.4.2 UN high-level meetings on NCDs

In July 2014, a second UN high-level meeting of the General Assembly on NCDs took stock of the progress made in implementing the commitments set out in the political declaration of the first UN high-level meeting on NCDs in 2011. The outcome document noted the progress achieved at the national level since September 2011, including an increase in the number of countries that had an operational national NCD policy with a budget for implementation, from 32% of countries in 2010 to 50% of countries in 2013 *(51)*.

Recognizing the need to accelerate progress in implementing the commitments of the UN political declaration, heads of state collectively committed to prioritizing four time-bound national actions:

- by 2015, to consider setting national NCD targets for 2025;
- by 2015, to consider developing national multisectoral policies and plans to achieve the national targets by 2025;
- by 2016, to reduce risk factors for NCDs, building on guidance set out in the WHO Global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020; and
- by 2016, to strengthen health systems to address NCDs through people-centred primary health care and universal health coverage, building on guidance set out in the global action plan.

The third UN high-level meeting of the General Assembly on NCDs was held in October 2018 (52). It welcomed the report of the WHO Independent High-level Commission on NCDs, and took note of its recommendations (53). Heads of state and government reaffirmed the primary role and responsibility of governments at all levels in responding to the challenge of NCDs by developing adequate national multisectoral responses for their prevention and control, and underscored the importance of pursuing whole-of-government and whole-of-society approaches, as well as health-in-all-policies, equity-based and life-course approaches.

It was recognized that action to realize the commitments made to the prevention and control of NCDs was inadequate, that the level of progress and investment to date was insufficient to meet target 3.4 of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and that the world has yet to fulfil its promise of implementing, at all levels, measures to reduce the risk of premature death and disability from NCDs. Further commitments were made to scale up national NCD action. It is significant that during the three UN high-level meetings, in 2011, 2014 and 2018, heads of state and government made 63 commitments to accelerate national action for prevention and control of NCDs. However, these have not been operationalized in a timely manner to meet time-bound SDG and NCD targets.

#### 4.4.3 The SDGs and NCDs: where do we stand?

In 2015, the UN General Assembly adopted the Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development to present an integrated and coordinated approach that balanced the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. It includes 17 SDGs and, related to them, 169 individual targets *(54)*. SDG 3.4.1 is defined as:

By 2030, reduce by one third premature mortality from NCDs through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being. This target of a 33.3% relative reduction in the probability of dying from the four main NCDs was aligned to the NCD mortality target within the GMF and is measured against 2015 as the common baseline set for all SDGs (55).

In 2020, only 17 countries were on track to meet SDG target 3.4 for their women and 15 for men.

SDG target 3.5 is to strengthen the prevention and treatment of substance abuse, including the harmful use of alcohol. Over the last decade little progress has been made in reducing the harmful use of alcohol and the implementation of effective alcohol control measures has been uneven between countries (*56*).

SDG target 3.8 is to achieve universal health coverage (UHC). High-, middle- and low-income country groups have demonstrated almost no progress since 2000 in expanding UHC service capacity and access to the prevention, screening, early diagnosis and appropriate treatment of NCDs *(57)*.

SDG target 3.a is on strengthening implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (WHO FCTC). The age-standardized tobacco use prevalence rates are declining in all WHO regions. In 2000, the South-East Asian Region had the highest total tobacco use rates at around 47% and the African Region had the lowest average rate, estimated to be 18.5%. The South-East Asian Region is tracking towards an average prevalence rate of 25.1% and the African Region is tracking towards 11.2% by 2025. The only WHO region expected to achieve a 30% relative reduction in prevalence of current tobacco use by 2025 is the WHO Region of the Americas, assuming tobacco control efforts in the region's countries are maintained at current levels. The Western Pacific and European regions are expected to experience relative reductions of around 12% and 18% respectively between 2010 and 2025 (*58*).

SDG target 11.6 is on improving air quality. In 2016, nine out of ten people breathed air that did not meet the WHO air-quality guidelines, and more than half of the world's population was exposed to air pollution levels at least 2.5 times above the safety standard set by WHO (59).

Multisectoral action is central to prevention and control of NCDs and the SDG agenda because of the range of determinants impacting people's health, such as social, environmental and commercial determinants. Since most of these determinants lie outside the health sector, to make progress in attaining SDG and NCD targets, countries need to engage the whole of society and sectors beyond health by adopting a "whole-of-government", "whole-of-society" and "health-in-all-policies" approach. This approach takes into account the health implications of public policies in order to avoid harmful health impacts and to improve population health and health equity. It calls upon the health sector to work collaboratively with other sectors to see policy change for better health and development. The related concept of "one-health" aims to transform governance of human health, animal health and environment issues by better aligning policies for all relevant sectors and disciplines, and building the necessary systems, services and workforce capacities (60). Table 4 provides examples of linkages between SDGs, NCDs and the mutual gain from policies that

align health goals and those of other sectors. A combination of factors is necessary to operationalize health-in-all-policies, including good governance, sound partnerships based on co-design, dedicated capacity and resources and use of evidence and evaluation *(61)*.

Exposure	Key health outcomes	Intersectoral action: examples of key sectors beyond the health sector	SDG targets
Poverty and food insecurity	Under-five child deaths, stunting and wasting	Social welfare cash transfer programmes to reduce poverty and improve child nutrition and use of preventive health services	1.1; 1.2; 1.3; 2.1; 2,2; 10.4
Air pollution	Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), respiratory infections and lung cancer	City governments, the energy, industry and transport sectors addressing urban design and transport systems result in multiple health and environmental benefits	7.1; 7.2; 9.1; 11.2; 11.6; 13.1
Substandard and unsafe housing and unsafe communities	Asthma, CVDs, injuries and violent deaths	Housing and urban planning sectors ensure housing standards that reduce homelessness, promote health and address sources of air pollution	1.4; 5.2; 7.1; 7.2; 9.1; 11.1; 11.6; 12.6; 16.1
Hazardous, unsafe and poor work environments	COPD, CVDs, lung cancer, leukaemia, hearing loss, back pain, injuries, depression, among others	The labour sector promotes occupational standards and workers' rights to protect worker health and safety across different industries (including the informal economy)	8.5; 8.8; 12.6; 13.1; 16.10
Exposure to carcinogens through unsafe chemicals and foods	Cancers, neurological disorders	Sound management of chemicals and food across the food industry, agriculture sector and different areas of industrial production	6.3; 12.3; 12.4
Unhealthy food consumption and lack of physical activity	Obesity, CVDs, diabetes, cancers and dental caries	Improving product standards and public spaces, and using information and financial incentives involves the education, agriculture, trade, transport and urban planning sectors with benefits for social inclusion and the environment	2.2; 2.3; 4.1; 9.1; 12.6

Table 4.Examples of opportunities for leveraging intersectoral actions to improve health and<br/>achieve other SDG and NCD targets

Source: World health statistics 2017: monitoring health for the SDGs.

#### 4.4.4 Primary health care, universal health coverage and NCDs

NCD management requires assessment of risk factors, early detection of high-risk status or disease, a combination of behavioural and pharmacological treatment, long-term follow-up with regular monitoring and promotion of adherence to treatment that requires a comprehensive primary health care (PHC) approach.

As highlighted in the Declaration of Astana, PHC is the most effective, efficient and equitable way to improve health (62). It provides the foundation for universal health coverage (UHC). UHC is a priority objective of WHO and is a specific target within SDG 3 (target 3.8). UHC is defined as ensuring that all people have access to needed health services (including prevention, promotion, treatment, rehabilitation and palliation) of sufficient quality to be effective, while also ensuring that the use of these services does not expose the user to financial hardship (63).

In 2012, the Sixty-seventh session of the UN General Assembly recommended that consideration be given to including UHC in the discussions on the post-2015 development agenda and recognized that the provision of UHC mutually reinforces the implementation of the political declaration on NCDs *(64)*. Governments gathered at the Seventy-second World Health Assembly in 2019 agreed on two resolutions related to UHC, addressing PHC *(65)* (A72.2) and the role of community health workers in delivering PHC and achieving UHC *(66)* (A72.3). They urged countries to implement the Declaration of Astana, adopted at the 2018 Global Conference on Primary Health Care, and recognize the key role that PHC plays in ensuring the full range of health services a person needs throughout their life.

In October 2019, the UN General Assembly adopted the political declaration of the high-level meeting on universal health coverage (67). Commitments were made to further strengthen efforts to address NCDs as part of UHC by implementing the most cost-effective, high-impact and evidence-based interventions to meet the health needs of all throughout the life course, ensuring universal access to nationally determined sets of integrated, quality health services at all levels of care for prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care in a timely manner.

Multiple approaches are required for achieving UHC, including a PHC approach and life course approach. A PHC approach focuses on organizing and strengthening health systems so that people can access health services based on their needs and in their everyday environments in a timely fashion. PHC requires three synergistic components: comprehensive integrated health services that embrace primary care as well as public health goods and functions; multisectoral policies to address the upstream determinants of health; and engaged and empowered individuals, families and communities demonstrating increased social participation and enhanced self-care and self-reliance in health.

• The Operational framework for primary health care (68) provides detailed guidance for countries on strengthening PHC systems through intersectoral actions, empowered people and communities. The WHO package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions (69) is available as the Pen App, providing a package for primary care as an easy-access digital solution (70). Countries can accelerate NCD control by making it an integral component of PHC.

• The WHO UHC compendium provides a set of interventions, including those for NCDs, which can be used to develop national UHC benefit packages (71). UHC is not comprehensive and universal until essential NCD packages that embrace very cost-effective high-impact NCD interventions are included and scaled up.

#### 4.4.5 Contribution of non-State actors and the private sector

At the third UN high-level meeting on NCDs in 2018, it was acknowledged that, in addition to governments, other stakeholders also share responsibility and can contribute to creating an environment conducive to preventing and controlling NCDs *(51)*. The need to bring together civil society and the private sector to mobilize all their available resources, as appropriate, for the implementation of national responses for the prevention and control of NCDs was highlighted.

UN agencies and other multilateral organizations globally, regionally and nationally can contribute to the NCD agenda by engaging with aspects of the global action plan that require multisectoral engagement and may be beyond the mandate and reach of WHO (72).

Civil society organizations such as the NCD Alliance, philanthropic foundations such as the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation and Bloomberg Philanthropies, academia and the NCD Countdown 2030 collaboration between WHO, NCD Alliance, Imperial College London and *The Lancet* have been engaged in holding governments to account and monitoring the implementation of commitments and policies at the national level through shadow reporting, benchmarking and producing NCD scorecards (73). The need for meaningful civil society engagement, and for the voices of those living with and affected by NCDs to be amplified, was recognized in the 2018 UN political declaration on NCDs (*51*). There is scope for greater engagement of civil society to ensure that the global action plan is implemented in ways that promote its key principles relating to human rights, equity and empowerment of people and communities. The lack of independent funding hampers stronger civil society action. Some funding sources, such as pharmaceutical companies and foundations, may present risks of conflicts of interest.

The contribution of the private sector to the global action plan has been mixed. There are some examples of effective collaboration, for example over reformulation of some food products. There are also many examples of industry interference, particularly relating to tobacco, alcohol, highly processed food and breast-milk substitutes. There is potential for greater and more effective collaboration with the private sector in many areas, including improving governance and support to Member States to ensure that commercial factors do not undermine public health policies.

## **CHAPTER 5**

# Mid-point evaluation of the global action plan 2013–2020

In accordance with paragraph 60 of the *Global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs* 2013–2020, a mid-point evaluation of progress on the implementation of the action plan was conducted (74). The purpose of the mid-point evaluation was to assess the accomplishments of the six objectives of the action plan (Table 2), as well as the lessons learned through its implementation in Member States, by international partners and non-State actors, and at the three levels of WHO (country offices, regional offices and headquarters). The evaluation has drawn a number of conclusions and identified many lessons learned. These are summarized in the evaluation report and are the basis for a set of recommendations (Table 5).

Table 5. Recommendations of the mid-term evaluation of the Global action plan for theprevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020

## **R1.** WHO Secretariat and Member States to find sustainable funding mechanisms to allow for a dramatic acceleration of NCD implementation.

#### WHO Secretariat to:

- develop proposals as to how NCD funding can be incorporated into plans to build back better;
- continue to work with the OECD to introduce a purpose code to track spending on NCDs within overseas development assistance (ODA); and
- introduce, with UN Interagency Task Force on NCDs (UNIATF) and international partners, a catalytic/ multi-partner trust fund for NCDs.

R2. WHO Secretariat and Member States to consider how best to use limited financial resources available for NCDs by focusing on the most cost-effective options based on available evidence.

#### WHO Secretariat to:

- provide technical support to Member States to help focus domestic financial resources on those actions which will be most cost-effective;
- update the best buys from a diverse range of regional and national settings and provide further guidance on total funding needed to implement them; and
- work with Member States to collect and report in-country expenditure on NCDs.

## R3. WHO Secretariat and Member States to explore why progress seen in relation to addressing tobacco use has not yet been seen in relation to other risk factors.

WHO Secretariat to:

- explore why the progress seen in tobacco control is not being seen for other risk factors;
- explore why policies on harmful use of alcohol are not associated with implementation of identified cost-effective actions on harmful use of alcohol;
- explore what the barriers are to implementation of actions that are not showing a positive association with income group in high-income country; and
- review whether the range of cost-effective interventions for physical activity can be expanded.

R4. WHO Secretariat and Member States to do more to ensure those affected by NCDs are diagnosed, receiving treatment and having their condition controlled.

WHO Secretariat:

- together with Member States, to identify practical ways in which responses to NCDs can be better integrated into PHC and UHC;
- together with Member States, to improve monitoring of the number and proportion of people receiving essential medicines in PHC, particularly to reduce cardiovascular risk;
- together with Member States, international partners and non-State actors to recognize and emphasize that it is important not to focus solely on a single NCD; and
- to develop more concrete guidance on integrated NCD management in primary care.

## **R5. WHO Secretariat and Member States to determine how the priority of NCD research can best be raised.**

WHO Secretariat:

- and Member States to determine if lack of sufficient funding or an efficient funding mechanism might be an underlying reason why little progress has been made on NCD research and if so how this can be resolved;
- to develop a clear plan as to how it will support this area of work, including identifying current research priorities and needs and how these will be addressed;
- to identify respective roles and responsibilities for this objective, particularly given the establishment
  of a Science Division; and
- to identify ways in which WHO collaborating centres can contribute to this objective.

## R6. WHO Secretariat and Member States to consider ways in which the monitoring and surveillance of NCD responses can be further strengthened.

WHO Secretariat:

- and Member States to identify how to conduct risk factor surveys in a more cost-effective and sustainable manner that builds local capacity and is coherent with other national data systems;
- to ensure that future reporting to Member States on the action plan (AP) implementation indicator set includes the indicator on research (AP5);
- to revise and update the AP indicator definitions and to clarify the baseline year for progress reporting to the World Health Assembly, and then report on these to Member States;
- to make data more readily available publicly and to use the available data more, for example through in-house analysis in collaboration with partners;
- to brief Member States on what monitoring and reporting implications there are of extending the global action plan to 2030;
- Member States, international partners and non-State actors to develop metrics for actors other than Member States, that is WHO, international partners and non-State actors.
- and Member States to strengthen mechanisms for validation of country-reported data, for example through civil society and in-county verification.
- and Member States to ensure that the final evaluation of the global action plan is able to assess
  progress at the outcome level, as specified in the global monitoring framework.

R 7. WHO Secretariat to undertake a functional review to consider the extent to which its structure and capacity are optimal for providing technical support to NCD responses.

R8. WHO Secretariat and Member States to consider how they can more effectively promote and support multisectoral engagement on NCDs.

R9. Member States and WHO Secretariat to increase their focus on how NCDs differentially affect different groups including children, youth, disabled people, people living with HIV, older persons, indigenous peoples, refugees, internally displaced persons and migrants, as specified in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

R10. There is a need to work out how including mental health and air pollution can be incorporated in practice into the global action plan.

R11. UNIATF and the UN Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) to consider how they can provide further support to countries, promote joint activities between UN agencies and further build support for NCD responses among the senior leadership of UN agencies.

**R12.** WHO Secretariat and Member States to consider implementing the recommendations of the final evaluation of the global coordination mechanism on the prevention and control of NCDs (75).

The main focus of the global action plan is on four NCDs and four major behavioural risk factors. The 4 x 4 concept offers a pragmatic approach for operationalizing policy action and public health programming to act on modifiable risk factors and major NCDs amenable to treatment.

There are other NCDs (renal, endocrine, neurological, haematological, gastroenterological, hepatic, musculoskeletal, skin and oral diseases and genetic disorders) and NCD conditions (mental disorders; disabilities, including those caused by blindness, deafness, violence and injuries). Despite the close links between all of them, one action plan to address all of them in equal detail would be unwieldy. Furthermore, some of these conditions are the subject of other WHO strategies and action plans.

Since 2018, there has been a shift to a "5 x 5 agenda", broadening commitments to action on environmental risk factors such as air pollution, and on treatment of mental illnesses (51).

## **CHAPTER 6**

# Extension of the global action plan to 2030

The Seventy-second World Health Assembly extended the period of the global action plan to 2030, ensuring alignment with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the SDGs (76). The *Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2030* (77), with six specific objectives (Table 2), will remain the principal guidance framework for the development and strengthening of countries' NCD response plans, underpinned by the nine voluntary global targets that were set to be achieved by 2025 against a 2010 baseline (Table 3). Three of them have been updated recently (Table 6).

All targets continue to be measured against the agreed 2010 baseline, except for the mortality target, which will be measured against the 2015 baseline. All indicators remain consistent, with the exception of the indicator for the target on prevention of heart attack and stroke, which is updated to reflect recently developed CVD risk prediction charts (21).

As part of the implementation of the roadmap, and in preparation for the UN high-level meeting in 2025, a review of progress against the targets will be undertaken in 2025 and further modifications will be considered, in consultation with Member States and non-State actors.

The extended global action plan will continue to be monitored against the existing nine voluntary global targets (baseline 2010), adapted to reflect the updated and extended targets for NCD mortality (SDG 3.4.1, baseline 2015) physical activity (baseline 2010) *(78)* and reducing harmful use of alcohol *(79)*.

One decade after the first UN high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of NCD, in 2011, new data from WHO indicate that more Member States have the ability to report on progress in attaining the nine voluntary global NCD targets, using data from risk factor surveys and cause-specific mortality systems. WHO Progress Monitor, which tracks the performance of countries against an agreed set of markers, shows that 77 countries have fully achieved more indicators in 2022 (*80*) compared with 2020, when the previous monitoring report was published.

## Table 6.Updated voluntary global NCD targets

Domain	Framework element	Original 2025 target	Baseline	Indicator	Updated status
Mortality and morbidity	Premature mortality from non- communicable disease	A 25% relative reduction in the overall mortality from cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes or chronic respiratory diseases	2015	Unconditional probability of dying between ages of 30 and 70 from cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes or chronic respiratory diseases	Target extended to a one third relative reduction in the overall mortality from cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, or chronic respiratory diseases. This target is adapted as per the Sustainable Development Goal target 3.4 (by 2030, reduce by one third premature mortality from noncommunicable diseases through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being) and with 2015 as the baseline and an extrapolation of the 25% relative reduction to 2030 making it 33.3% (75)
Behavioural risk factors	Harmful use of alcohol		2010	Total alcohol per capita consumption defined as the estimated total (recorded plus unrecorded) alcohol per capita (aged 15 years and older) consumption within a calendar year in litres of pure alcohol, adjusted for tourist consumption.	Target extended to a 20% relative reduction in the harmful use of alcohol by 2030 <i>(81)</i>
				Age-standardized prevalence of heavy episodic drinking	
				Age-standardized alcohol-attributable deaths	
				Age-standardized alcohol-attributable DALYs	

Domain	Framework element	Original 2025 target	Baseline	Indicator	Updated status
	Physical inactivity	A 10% relative reduction in prevalence of insufficient physical activity	2010	Age-standardized prevalence of insufficiently physically active persons aged 18+ years (defined as less than 150 minutes of moderate-intensity activity per week, or equivalent)	Target extended to a 15% relative reduction in prevalence of insufficient physical activity by 2030 <i>(82)</i>
National	Drug therapy to	At least 50% of	2010	Proportion of eligible persons (defined	Target unchanged
systems response	prevent heart attacks and strokes	eligible people receive drug therapy and counselling (including glycaemic control) to prevent heart attacks and strokes		as aged 40 years and older with a 10-year cardiovascular risk ≥30%, including those with existing cardiovascular disease) receiving drug therapy and counselling (including glycaemic control) to prevent heart attacks and strokes	Indicator is updated to reflect new cardiovascular risk prediction charts: Proportion of eligible persons (defined as aged 40 years and older with a 10-year cardiovascular risk ≥20%, including those with existing cardiovascular disease) receiving drug therapy and counselling (including glycaemic control) to prevent heart attacks and strokes (83)

Source: WHO NCD Accountability Framework (84)

# CHAPTER 7 Global accountability framework

WHO is tracking the implementation of the global action plan across its six objectives.

In May 2014, the World Health Assembly adopted a set of nine action plan indicators to inform reporting on progress made in the implementation of the global action plan (*85*). These nine process monitoring indicators (Table 7) cover the six objectives of the global action plan and were considered feasible for use in all countries, and complementary to and consistent with the 25 outcome indicators in the global monitoring framework. The data for these indicators are collected through the WHO Country Capacity Survey, undertaken every two years (*86*). Ten "commitment fulfilment progress indicators" were established by the WHO Secretariat in response to requests from the World Health Assembly (Table 8) (*87*) and use the 25 indicators within the NCD global monitoring framework (*88*) as well as the WHO General Programme of Work and UHC frameworks.

WHO will report to the WHO Executive Board, the World Health Assembly and the UN General Assembly on achievement of the targets by 2025 and 2030, as mandated by the Member States. The methodology for monitoring the progress against each target is based on and aligned with the methods used for the projections of the WHO Thirteenth General Programme of Work indicators *(89)*.

In May 2015, WHO published a technical note (90) on how it would report in 2017 to the UN General Assembly on progress achieved in the implementation of national commitments included in the 2011 UN political declaration (32) and the 2014 UN outcome document (50) on NCDs. The technical note was updated in September 2017. Progress monitors have been published in 2015 (91), 2017 (92), 2020 (85) and 2022 (78). The *Noncommunicable disease progress monitor 2022* provides data on the 19 indicators detailed in the technical note for all 194 WHO Member States. The indicators include setting time-bound targets to reduce NCD deaths; developing all-ofgovernment policies to address NCDs; implementing key measures to reduce tobacco demand, measures to reduce harmful use of alcohol and unhealthy diets and to promote physical activity; and the strengthening of health systems through primary health care and universal health coverage.

#### Table 7. Global action plan indicators

- 1. Number of countries with at least one operational multisectoral national policy, strategy or action plan that integrates several NCDs and shared risk factors in conformity with the global/regional NCD action plans
- 2. Number of countries that have operational NCD unit(s)/branch(es)/department(s) within their ministry of health, or equivalent
- 3. Number of countries with an operational policy, strategy or action plan to reduce the harmful use of alcohol, as appropriate, within the national context
- 4. Number of countries with an operational policy, strategy or action plan to reduce physical inactivity and/or promote physical activity
- 5. Number of countries with an operational policy, strategy or action plan, in line with the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, to reduce the burden of tobacco use
- 6. Number of countries with an operational policy, strategy or action plan to reduce unhealthy diet and/or promote healthy diets
- 7. Number of countries that have evidence-based national guidelines/protocols/standards for the management of major NCDs through a primary care approach, recognized/approved by government or competent authorities
- 8. Number of countries that have an operational national policy and plan on NCD-related research, including community-based research and evaluation of the impact of interventions and policies
- **9.** Number of countries with noncommunicable disease surveillance and monitoring systems in place to enable reporting against the nine voluntary global NCD targets

#### Table 8. Commitment fulfilment progress indicators

- 1. Member State has set time-bound national targets based on WHO guidance
- 2. Member State has a functioning system for generating reliable cause-specific mortality data on a routine basis
- 3. Member State has a STEPS survey or a comprehensive health examination survey every five years
- 4. Member State has an operational multisectoral national strategy/action plan that integrates the NCDs and their shared risk factors
- 5. Member State has implemented the following five demand-reduction measures of the WHO FCTC at the highest level of achievement:
  - a. Reduce affordability by increasing excise taxes and prices on tobacco products
  - **b.** Eliminate exposure to second-hand tobacco smoke in all indoor workplaces, public places and public transport
  - c. Implement plain/standardized packaging and/or large graphic health warnings on all tobacco packages
  - d. Enact and enforce comprehensive bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship
  - e. Implement effective mass media campaigns that educate the public about the harms of smoking/tobacco use and second-hand smoke

- 6. Member State has implemented, as appropriate according to national circumstances, the following three measures to reduce the harmful use of alcohol as per the WHO Global Strategy to Reduce the Harmful Use of Alcohol:
  - **a.** Enact and enforce restrictions on the physical availability of retailed alcohol (via reduced hours of sale)
  - **b.** Enact and enforce bans or comprehensive restrictions on exposure to alcohol advertising (across multiple types of media)
  - c. Increase excise taxes on alcoholic beverages
- 7. Member State has implemented the following four measures to reduce unhealthy diets:
  - a. Adopt national policies to reduce population salt/sodium consumption
  - **b.** Adopt national policies that limit saturated fatty acids and virtually eliminate industrially produced trans fatty acids in the food supply
  - c. WHO set of recommendations on marketing of foods and non-alcoholic beverages to children
  - **d.** Legislation/regulations fully implementing the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes
- 8. Member State has implemented at least one recent national public awareness and motivational communication for physical activity, including mass media campaigns for physical activity behavioural change
- 9. Member State has evidence-based national guidelines/protocols/standards for the management of major NCDs through a primary care approach, recognized/approved by government or competent authorities
- **10.** Member State has provision of drug therapy, including glycaemic control, and counselling for eligible persons at high risk to prevent heart attacks and strokes, with emphasis on the primary care level

There had been considerable improvement in some action plan (AP) implementation indicators in 2021 compared to 2013, for example in AP2 (NCD unit) and AP3a (NCD risk factor policies), as shown in Table 9. For AP1 (NCD policies, strategies and action plans), AP5 (research policies), AP6 (monitoring and surveillance systems) and APx (national coordination mechanisms), despite some progress, overall performance remained at a low level. There had been little progress in developing guidelines, protocols and standards for NCD management through a primary care approach (AP4).

Indicat	or	2013*	2021*
AP1:	National action plan	24%	55%
AP2:	NCD unit	51%	74%
AP3a:	Policy on harmful use of alcohol	48%	69%
AP3b:	Policy on physical activity	52%	72%
AP3c:	Tobacco policy	63%	80%
AP3d:	Policy on healthy diet	55%	84%
AP4:	Clinical guidelines	49%	58%
AP5:	NCD research policy	n/a	28%
AP6:	NCD surveillance system	23%	28%
APx:	National coordination mechanism	n/a	46%

Table 9. Percentage of countries implementing global action plan, 2013 compared with 2021

\*Based on disaggregated data for 194 countries

The progress in achieving commitment fulfilment is shown in Table 10. While 14 indicators show improvement in terms of the percentage of countries fully achieving them between 2015 and 2021, the increases are modest and overall performance levels remain low. Fewer countries have fulfilled the commitments on risk factor surveys, salt policies, breast milk code and physical activity in 2021 compared to 2015.
Table 10. Percentage of countries in which commitment fulfilment progress (COM) indicators are fully achieved, 2015 compared with 2021

Indicator	2015	2021
COM1: National NCD targets	30%	56%
COM2: Mortality data	36%	42%
COM3: Risk factor surveys	28%	19%
COM4: National action plan	33%	55%
COM5a: Tobacco tax	2%	20%
COM5b: Smoke-free places	25%	34%
COM5c: Graphic warnings	22%	53%
COM5d: Tobacco advertising bans	15%	29%
COM5e: Tobacco mass media	n/a	23%
COM6a: Alcohol sales restrictions	15%	16%
COM6b: Alcohol advertising ban	20%	27%
COM6c: Alcohol tax	22%	24%
COM7a: Salt policies	32%	17%
COM7b: Fat policies	21%	28%
COM7c: Child food marketing	22%	38%
COM7d: Breast milk code	37%	13%
COM8: Physical activity mass media	61%	42%
COM9: Clinical guidelines	26%	58%
COM10: Drug therapy and counselling	14%	36%

At the three UN high-level meetings on NCDs, in 2011, 2014 and 2018, WHO released country profiles that highlight the latest data on NCDs in each WHO Member State (93). They present key data on NCD mortality, risk factor prevalence, the capacity of national systems to prevent and control NCDs, and the existence of national targets based on the global monitoring framework. These profiles allow Member States to track their progress towards achieving the nine global targets to be attained by 2025.

# CHAPTER 8 Delivering on commitments

Encouraging the inclusion of NCD prevention and control as a priority on domestic, regional and global agendas has been an important component of WHO's multilateral system, which seeks to contribute to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health. WHO has played a key role in raising the profile of NCDs internationally and with Member States through global health diplomacy and various other mechanisms, including high-level meetings, the WHO Independent High-level Commission on NCDs and UNIATF. However, the raised profile given to NCDs internationally since 2013 has not yet translated into increased international funding. For example, in 2018, NCDs received only 2% of development assistance for health, despite representing almost two thirds (62%) of the global disease burden (94).

The progress made in NCD prevention and control in the last 10 years is captured in progress reports of the UN Secretary-General (four) and the WHO Director-General (eleven) (Table 11). The World Health Assembly, in decision WHA72(11) (2019) (75), requested the WHO Director-General consolidate reporting on the progress achieved in the prevention and control of NCDs and the promotion of mental health with an annual report, to be submitted to the World Health Assembly through the Executive Board from 2021 to 2031.

Table 11	Reports of	progress made in	prevention and	control	of NCDs 2010–2021
Table II.	Reports of	progress made m	prevention and	CONTINU	

Repor	Reports of the UN Secretary-General on progress on prevention and control of NCDs		
2010	Note transmitting the report by the Director-General of the World Health Organization on the global status of non-communicable diseases, with a particular focus on the development challenges faced by developing countries (95) [https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/691392?ln=en]		
2011	Prevention and control of non-communicable diseases (96) [https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/704820?ln=en]		
2013	Note by the Secretary-General transmitting the report of the Director-General of the World Health Organization on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases (97) [https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/763111?ln=en]		
2017	Progress on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases (10) [https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1474584?ln=en]		

Reports of the WHO Director-General on the progress on prevention and control of NCDs

	· · ·
2011	Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. WHO's role in the preparation, implementation and follow-up to the high-level meeting of the United Nations General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (98) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/3219]
2012	Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. Outcomes of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases and the First Global Ministerial Conference on Healthy Lifestyles and Noncommunicable Disease Control (99) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/23733]
2013	Follow-up to the political declaration of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases (40) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/150207]
2014	Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (83) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/152571]
2014	Follow-up to the 2014 high-level meeting of the United Nations General Assembly to undertake a comprehensive review and assessment of the progress achieved in the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (100) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/252839]
2016	Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: responses to specific assignments in preparation for the third high-level meeting of the United Nations General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases in 2018 (101) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250788]
2017	Preparation for the third high-level meeting of the general assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases, to be held in 2018 (102) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/275670]
2018	Preparation for the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases, to be held in 2018 <i>(103)</i> [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/279458]
2019	Follow-up to the high-level meetings of the United Nations General Assembly on health-related issues: prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (104) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/328648]
2020	Follow-up to the high-level meetings of the United Nations General Assembly on health-related issues: political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases (105) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/355903]
2021	Political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases (74) [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/359404]

To attain the overarching target on reducing premature mortality from NCD by one third and eight other targets of the Global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2030 (44), Member States need to accelerate delivery on the commitments that have been made on the prevention and control of NCDs and are included in the political declarations of the UN General Assembly on the prevention and control of NCDs in 2011 (32), 2014 (50), 2018 (51), the Global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020, the political declaration on UHC of 2019 (66) and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (106).

These include:

- exercise strategic leadership of heads of state and government to address NCDs by promoting a whole-of-society response;
- scale up implementation of the commitments to address NCDs as part of the national response to the implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development;
- accelerate efforts towards the achievement of UHC by 2030 to ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing for all throughout the life course;
- strengthen national multistakeholder dialogue mechanisms with accountability for the implementation of national multisectoral NCD action plans;
- implement policy, legislative, regulatory and fiscal measures to minimize exposure to behavioural risk factors; and
- prioritize and integrate the set of cost-effective, affordable and evidence-based NCD interventions (WHO best buys) to prevent and manage NCDs.

## 8.1 Challenges

At least half the world's population still does not have full coverage of essential health services for NCDs, and over 800 million people spend at least 10% of their household budget on paying for health *(56)*. Many countries find it challenging to arrive at the right balance between expanding the scope of the nationally determined benefits package and progressively covering additional people with it in order to provide access to a set of integrated health services to all by 2030.

NCDs have a high prevalence, require lifelong treatment, and the NCD burden will continue to rise due to ageing populations and increasing prevalence of behavioural risk factors. Per capita spending on health is US\$40 (38–43) in low-income countries, US\$81 (74–89) in lower middleincome countries, US\$491 (461–524) in upper middle-income countries and US\$5252 (5184–5319) in high-income countries (107). Thus, NCD treatment initiatives, particularly in LMICs, need to be affordable and sustainable in the long-term. They are not viable if they depend on time-limited funding from external donors. Population-wide prevention programmes and initiatives to strength health systems in LMICs could be usefully supported through development assistance. Due to the devastating impact of the pandemic on economies, it is unrealistic to expect governments in LMICs to be able to increase spending on health, including that on NCDs, in the near future. A high priority will therefore have to be accorded to the implementation of high-impact NCD interventions with a good return (WHO "best buys") (108), particularly in LMICs. WHO best buys provide a pragmatic and feasible path for LMICs to attain eight synergistic and complementary targets that together can reduce premature mortality from NCDs by one third by 2030. As there are vast differences in capacity and availability of resources between high-income countries and LMICs, there will be differences in the pathways they need to take to make progress towards NCD/ SDG targets and UHC.

## 8.2 Giving priority to very cost-effective, high-impact NCD interventions

Almost 10 million premature deaths from NCDs can be avoided by 2025 if governments decide, today, to implement the WHO "best buys" for NCDs, endorsed by the World Health Assembly in 2017 (Table 12). Doing so will prevent 17 million strokes and heart attacks by 2030 in the poorest countries and generate US\$350 billion in economic growth. Every US\$1 invested in the proven interventions for NCDs will yield a return of at least US\$7 by 2030.

Risk factor / disease to be addressed	Interventions	Detailed description
Reduce tobacco use	Taxation	Increase excise taxes and prices on tobacco products
	Packaging	Implement plain/standardized packaging and/or large graphic health warnings on all tobacco packages
	Advertising, promotion and sponsorship	Enact and enforce comprehensive bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship
	Smoke-free public policies	Eliminate exposure to second-hand tobacco smoke in all indoor workplaces, public places and public transport
	Health education	Implement effective mass media campaigns that educate the public about the harms of smoking/tobacco use and second-hand smoke
Reduce harmful	Taxation	Increase excise taxes on alcoholic beverages
use of alcohol	Advertising	Enact and enforce bans or comprehensive restrictions on exposure to alcohol advertising (across multiple types of media)
	Availability	Enact and enforce restrictions on the physical availability of retailed alcohol (via reduced hours of sale)
Risk factor / disease to be addressed	Interventions	Detailed description
Reduce unhealthy diet	Reformulate food	Reduce salt intake through the reformulation of food products to contain less salt and the setting of target levels for the amount of salt in foods and meals
		Reduce salt intake through the implementation of front-of-pack labelling
	Supportive environment	Reduce salt intake through the establishment of a supportive environment in public institutions such as hospitals, schools, workplaces and nursing homes, to enable lower sodium options to be provided
	Health education	Reduce salt intake through a behaviour change communication and mass media campaign
	Packaging	Reduce salt intake through the implementation of front-of-pack labelling

#### Table 12. NCD best buys

Risk factor / disease to be addressed	Interventions	Detailed description
Reduce physical inactivity	Health education	Implement community-wide public education and awareness campaigns for physical activity which includes a mass media campaign combined with other community-based education, motivational and environmental programmes aimed at supporting behavioural change of physical activity levels
Manage diabetes and cardiovascular disease including hypertension	Drug therapy and counselling	Drug therapy (including glycaemic control for diabetes mellitus and control of hypertension using a total risk approach) and counselling to individuals who have had a heart attack or stroke and to persons with high risk (≥30%) of a fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular event in the next 10 years
Cervical cancer	Vaccination screening	Vaccination against human papillomavirus (two doses) of 9–13 year old girls
		Prevention of cervical cancer by screening women aged 30–49, either through:
		<ul> <li>Visual inspection with acetic acid, linked with timely treatment of precancerous lesions;</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Pap smear (cervical cytology) every 3–5 years, linked with timely treatment of precancerous lesions; or</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Human papillomavirus test every 5 years linked with timely treatment of precancerous lesions</li> </ul>

Source: Tackling NCDs: "best buys" and other recommended interventions for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.

#### Note that, as of 2022, WHO best buys are being updated.

The *Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020 (40),* and the actions that flowed from it in the last decade, have helped countries to make progress in addressing NCDs. Some mechanisms and global events that have contributed to this include:

- the adoption of commitments at the UN General Assembly on the prevention and control of NCDs in 2014, 2015, 2018 and 2019;
- the establishment of the UN Interagency Task Force on the Prevention and Control of NCDs (UNIATF) in 2014 for coordination of UN activities to support national NCD responses (109);
- the establishment of a global coordination mechanism on the prevention and control of NCDs by the World Health Assembly in 2014 (83);
- inclusion of NCDs in SDG target 3.4 (3);
- the Addis Ababa Action Agenda on Financing for Development in 2015 (110);
- the appointment of a Global Ambassador for NCDs and Injuries in 2016;

- the establishment of an independent High-level Commission on NCDs by the WHO Director-General in 2017 (9); and
- global conferences on NCDs (Montevideo, Uruguay, 2017 and Muscat, Oman, 2019).

The role of the UNIATF is to bring the UN system and other intergovernmental organizations together to support governments in meeting the NCD-related SDG targets, which includes mental health (107), and the high-level commitments made at the UN General Assembly and the World Health Assembly, including those incorporated in the *Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2030 (76)*. UNIATF was established by the UN Secretary-General in June 2013 and placed under the leadership of WHO. It reports each year to the UN Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC).

The Global Coordination Mechanism on the Prevention and Control of NCDs, established in 2014, is the WHO instrument aimed at facilitating multistakeholder engagement and cross-sectoral collaboration to prevent and control NCDs (111). It convenes and connects diverse stakeholders, comprising all WHO Member States, UN organizations and non-State actors, including relevant private sector entities, to address its five functions:

- advocating and raising awareness
- disseminating knowledge and information
- encouraging innovation and identifying barriers
- advancing multisectoral action
- advocating for the mobilization of resources.

In addition, two global health movements have shaped the pathways to prevention and control of NCDs and steered the associated political agenda. One is the focus on PHC and the other is the pursuit of UHC *(61)*. They have steered countries towards seeking the right balance between progressively covering additional people with nationally determined sets of health services, including those for NCDs, while strengthening PHC as the foundation of a sustainable health system for UHC.

# **CHAPTER 9**

# Moving towards 2030

# 9.1 The role of WHO and its technical assistance to support national efforts

In addition to raising the profile of NCDs, exercising its leadership and coordinating mandates, WHO has also worked successfully to integrate NCDs into the SDGs and other key development agendas, such as that for UHC. WHO provided technical input and guidance to the process of developing the SDGs (*112*), which recognized the importance of NCDs and UHC and was reflected in the inclusion of NCDs in SDG target 3.4, to reduce by one third premature mortality from NCDs through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being by 2030.

In September 2019, at the UN high-level meeting on universal health coverage, a commitment was made to cover progressively 1 billion additional people with essential health services and medicines for the early detection, screening and appropriate treatment of NCDs and mental health conditions by 2023 *(66)*.

Although much remains to be done, all six WHO regions have recorded progress in NCD prevention and control. The progress of regional NCD frameworks is summarized in the proceedings of the regional committee meetings in 2021: in Africa (*113*), the Americas (*114*), Eastern Mediterranean (*115*), Europe (*116*), South-East Asia (*117*, *118*) and Western Pacific (*119*).

WHO continues to provide technical support tailored to country contexts, including support to develop NCD plans, policies and investment cases, financing mechanisms, regulatory approaches and multisector engagement, to carry out surveys of risk factors and to strengthen national capacity for strategic planning and resource mobilization. This support is provided through engagement of all levels of WHO: country offices, regional offices and headquarters, and through UNIATF. Policy advice is provided across the activities of the global action plan, for example through the identification and prioritization of very cost-effective and high-impact NCD interventions (WHO best buys), and through the development of packages for NCDs as a whole and for particular NCDs and risk factors. These and other WHO technical packages and reports present current best practice, evidence and knowledge in order to inform policy and programme development in population-wide prevention and individual management of NCDs. Key areas covered by some of the technical packages are listed in Table 13.

#### Table 13. WHO technical packages

	Deservices/tools/tooksical poskages
NCD area	Resources/tools/technical packages
Integrated approach to detect and manage CVDs, including hypertension, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and cancer in primary care	WHO package for essential noncommunicable (PEN) interventions for primary health care (120)
CVD management in primary care (aligns with WHO package for essential noncommunicable (PEN) interventions for primary health care)	HEARTS technical package (21)
Tobacco control	WHO FCTC <i>(12)</i>
	MPOWER (121)
	WHO reports on the global tobacco epidemic (biennial) <i>(122)</i>
Reducing harmful use of alcohol	SAFER package and initiative (123)
Increasing physical activity	ACTIVE technical package (124)
Salt reduction	SHAKE technical package (125)
Replace trans-fat	REPLACE action plan (1266)
Partnership for healthy cities	Collaboration to support cities in NCD prevention (127)
	(121)

### 9.2 Signature solutions

WHO is also developing a series of "signature solutions" and specific programmatic activities to support countries to achieve progress across SDG and UHC targets, to be attained by 2030, and WHO's "Triple Billion" targets, to be reached by 2023 (*87*), in preparation for the fourth UN high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of NCDs in 2025. These are:

- a global HEARTS initiative to support governments in strengthening the prevention and control of cardiovascular diseases;
- a global initiative to eliminate cervical cancer, which kills more than 300 000 women every year;
- a global initiative on childhood cancer, which aims to improve survival for all children with cancer to at least 60% by 2030;
- a global compact to address diabetes, with a special focus on increasing access to insulin, in the face of predictions that more than half a billion people will be living with the condition by 2030;
- a project to integrate prevention and control of NCDs into the health systems of countries in Africa, the Caribbean and Pacific, supporting all 78 countries to progress towards universal health coverage;

- a global breast cancer initiative to develop evidence-based, economically feasible and culturally appropriate intervention guidelines;
- a global initiative to end childhood caries, which currently affects the primary teeth of more than 530 million children;
- an NCD gateway, providing a one-stop-shop for data and strategic information on SDG 3.4, consistent across global and regional levels;
- a guide to action on rehabilitation in health systems, of increased importance because approximately two thirds of rehabilitation services globally have been disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic;
- an initiative to ensure effective coverage of treatment for conditions affecting the sensory functions of hearing and sight, many of which can be prevented and treated effectively; and
- a UN disability strategy, to better support the more than 1 billion people globally who live with a disability.

### 9.3 Implementation road map 2023–2030

In 2021, the Seventy-fourth World Health Assembly requested that WHO develop an implementation roadmap (128) to support the implementation of the *Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2030* in countries, based on the midpoint evaluation of the implementation of the global action plan (75) and the relatively slow progress in achieving the nine voluntary global targets on NCDs within the global monitoring framework.

An implementation roadmap is being developed to ensure the following:

- alignment with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (104) and other internationally agreed NCD targets;
- that the health care needs of the rapidly growing 30–70 years age group are addressed;
- identification of options for achieving NCD targets in every country;
- resilience of health systems to treat people living with NCDs during complex emergencies;
- that corrective actions are taken, based on the recommendations from the mid-point evaluation;
- use of COVID-19 as a new lens through which to see NCDs when building back better.

The roadmap will focus on three strategic directions: i) to understand the drivers and trajectories of the NCD burden across countries and epidemiological regions; ii) to scale up the implementation of the most impactful and feasible interventions in the national context; and iii) to ensure timely and reliable data on NCD risk factors, diseases and mortality for informed decision-making and accountability. The draft roadmap was submitted through the Executive Board at its 150th session, and through subsequent consultations with Member States and relevant stakeholders, for consideration by the Seventy-fifth World Health Assembly.

The NCD roadmap 2023–2030 will:

- highlight the barriers in implementing the global action plan 2013–2030 and provide evidencebased and cost-effective options to overcome them;
- promote a national, voluntary, collaborative and multisectoral process, which is supported by partners and relevant stakeholders, to advance NCD prevention and control and contribute to the SDG target on NCDs;
- identify pathways for achieving the targets on control of risk factors, diagnosis and management of disease, surveillance, intersectoral action, financing and other related areas, using the global monitoring framework extended to 2030;
- bring together the various initiatives and WHO technical packages for NCD prevention and control in a one-stop shop for easy access;
- support countries to prioritize interventions based on their NCD epidemiological profile, available resources and other considerations, using a simulation tool; and
- showcase country best practices and successes across NCD prevention and control interventions.

The roadmap will chart the course to reach the SDG target of reducing premature mortality from NCDs by one third by 2030, by identifying ways and means of overcoming barriers and accelerating progress in NCD prevention and control. With a pandemic that has brought devastating economic, social and health impacts looming over the world since 2020, implementing the roadmap remains a major challenge, particularly for LMICs. It will require resilient health systems, strong country capacities, a laser-focus on scaling up very cost-effective high-impact NCD interventions and close multisectoral and international collaboration.

# References

- World health statistics 2021. A visual summary [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/data/stories/world-health-statistics-2021-a-visual-summary, accessed 3 May 2022).
- 2. The top 10 causes of death [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 9 December 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death, accessed 3 May 2022).
- 3. SDG target 3.4 Reduce by one third premature mortality from non-communicable diseases through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/sdg-target-3\_4noncommunicable-diseases-and-mental-health, accessed 3 May 2022).
- 4. World health statistics 2020: monitoring health for the SDGs. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332070).
- World health statistics 2020: a visual summary [website] (https://www.who.int/data/gho/whs-2020-visual-summary, accessed 4 May 2022).
- 6. World health statistics 2021: monitoring health for the SDGs. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021:28 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/342703).
- 7. Indicators and a monitoring framework: target 3.4 [website]. Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN) (https://indicators.report/targets/3-4/, accessed 5 May 2022).
- 8. Rapid assessment of service delivery for NCDs during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/rapid-assessment-of-service-delivery-for-ncds-during-the-covid-19-pandemic, accessed 5 May 2022).
- 9. Time to deliver: report of the WHO Independent High-level Commission on Noncommunicable Diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272710).
- 10. Progress on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases: report of the Secretary-General. New York: United Nations; 2017 (A/72/662; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1474584?ln=en).
- Resolution WHA53.17. Global strategy on the prevention and control of NCDs. In: Fifty-third World Health Assembly, Geneva, 15–20 May 2000. Resolutions and decisions, annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000:22–24 (WHA53/2000/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260181).
- 12. Resolution WHA56.1. WHO framework convention on tobacco control. In: Fifty-sixth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 19–28 May 2003. Resolutions and decisions, annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003:1–24 (WHA56/2003/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259836).

- Resolution WHA57.17. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. In: Fifty-seventh World Health Assembly, Geneva, 17–22 May 2004. Resolutions and decisions, annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004:31–49 (WHA57/2004/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/20159).
- Resolution WHA61.14. Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: implementation of the global strategy. In: Sixty-first World Health Assembly, Geneva, 19-24 May 2008: resolutions and decisions: annexes. World Health Organization; 2008:17–19 (WHA61/2008/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/23569).
- 15. 2008–2013 action plan for the global strategy for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: prevent and control cardiovascular diseases, cancers, chronic respiratory diseases and diabetes. Geneva: World Health Organization: 2008 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44009).
- 16. Resolution WHA63.13. Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. In: Sixty-third World Health Assembly, Geneva, 17-21 May 2010: resolutions and decisions, annexes. World Health Organization; 2010:85–103 (WHA63/2010/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/4455).
- 17. Resolution 64/265. Prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. Adopted by the General Assembly on 13 May 2010. New York: United Nations: 2010 (A/RES/64/265; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/683471?ln=en).
- Political declaration of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases: draft resolution submitted by the President of the General Assembly. New York: United Nations; 2011 (A 66/L.1; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/710899/?ln=en).
- 19. The world health report 2002: reducing risks, promoting healthy life. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/67454).
- 20. Mendis S, Lindholm LH, Mancia G, Whitworth J, Alderman M, Lim S, Heagerty T. World Health Organization (WHO) and International Society of Hypertension (ISH) risk prediction charts: assessment of cardiovascular risk for prevention and control of cardiovascular disease in low and middle-income countries. J Hypertens. 2007;25(8):1578-82. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e3282861fd3. PMID: 17620952.
- 21. HEARTS technical package for cardiovascular disease management in primary health care: risk based CVD management. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/333221).
- 22. Implementation tools: package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions for primary health care in low-resource settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/133525).
- HEARTS technical package [website] Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/hearts-technical-package).
- 24. Preventing chronic diseases: a vital investment: WHO global report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43314).
- 25. Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44579).
- 26. Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/148114).
- 27. Bloom, DE et al. The global economic burden of non-communicable diseases. Geneva: World Economic Forum; 2011

(https://www.weforum.org/reports/global-economic-burden-non-communicable-diseases/).

- 28. Scaling up action against noncommunicable diseases. How much will it cost? Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44706).
- 29. From burden to best buys. Reducing the economic impact of noncommunicable diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization and World Economic Forum; 2011 (http://www. prevencionbasadaenlaevidencia.com/uploads/PDF/ODI\_FromBurdenToBestBuys\_WHO.pdf).
- 30. Saving lives, spending less: a strategic response to noncommunicable diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272534).
- Saving lives, spending less: the case for investing in noncommunicable diseases: methods supplement. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/350971).
- 32. Resolution 66/2. Political declaration of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases: resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 19 September 2011. New York: United Nations; 2011 (A/RES/66/2; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/720106?ln=en).
- 33. Resolution 66/288. The future we want. Adopted by the General Assembly on 27 July 2012. New York: United Nations; 2012 (A/RES/66/288; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/734344?ln=en).
- Realizing the future we want for all. Report to the Secretary-General. New York: UN System Task Team on the Post-2015 UN Development Agenda; 2012 (www.un.org/en/development/desa/policy/untaskteam\_undf/report.shtml).
- 35. A new global partnership: eradicate poverty and transform economies through sustainable development. The report of the high-level panel of eminent persons on the post-2015 development agenda. New York: United Nations; 2013 (www.post2015hlp.org/the-report).
- 36. A life of dignity for all: accelerating progress towards the Millennium Development Goals and advancing the United Nations development agenda beyond 2015. Report of the Secretary-General. New York: United Nations; 2013 (A/68/202; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/754891?ln=en).
- 37. Resolution EB130.R7. Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: follow-up to the high-level meeting of the United Nations General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. In: Executive Board 130th session. Geneva 16–23 January 2012: resolutions and decisions, annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011:8–11 (EB130/2012/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258774).
- 38. First Global Ministerial Conference on Healthy Lifestyles and Noncommunicable Disease Control, 28–29 April 2011. Moscow Declaration (https://www3.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com\_co ntent&view=article&id=5348:2011-moscu-ministros-salud-contra-enfermedades-cronicas-notransmisibles&Itemid=135&lang=en).
- Social determinants of health: outcome of the World Conference on Social Determinants of Health (Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, October 2011): report by the Secretariat. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (EB130/15; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/23747).
- 40. Resolution WHA66.10. Follow-up to the political declaration of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. In: Sixty-sixth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 20–27 May 2013: resolutions and decisions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013:16–20 (WHA66/2013/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/150207).
- 41. Decision EB132(1). Draft comprehensive global monitoring framework and targets for the

prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. In: Executive Board 132nd session. Geneva, 21–29 January 2013: resolutions, and decisions, annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization:39 (EB132/2013/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258781).

- 42. Documents EB132/6, EB132/7, EB132/7 Corr.1. Documents relating to Executive Board 132nd session (EB132) [website] Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/gb/e/e\_eb132.html).
- Document A66/8. Annex 4 Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020. Appendix 2. In: Sixty-sixth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 20–27 May 2013: resolutions and decisions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013:108–155 (WHA66/2013/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/150207).
- 44. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/94384).
- 45. Regional framework for NCD prevention and control [web document]. Washington, DC; WHO Regional Office for the Americas; 2013 (http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com\_ docman&task=doc\_view&gid=21349&Itemid=270&Iang=eng).
- 46. Noncommunicable diseases: regional framework for action [website]. Cairo; WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean (http://www.emro.who.int/noncommunicable-diseases/framework-for-action/index.html).
- Towards an EU strategic framework for the prevention of non-communicable diseases (NCDs). European Public Health Alliance, European Chronic Disease Alliance, NCD Alliance; 2019 (https://easl.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Final-NCD-Paper-full-version.pdf).
- Regional action plan and targets for prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (2013– 2020). New Delhi: WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2013 (SEA/RC66/10; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/128288).
- 49. Noncommunicable diseases: a strategy for the African Region. Brazzaville: WHO Regional Office for Africa; 2000 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/95455).
- 50. Progress on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases in the Western Pacific Region: country capacity survey 2019. Manila; WHO Regional Office for Western Pacific; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/340660).
- 51. Outcome document of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the comprehensive review and assessment of the progress achieved in the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. New York: United Nations; 2014 (A/68/L.53; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/774662?ln=en).
- 52. Resolution 73/2. Political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. New York: United Nations; 2018 (A/RES/73.2; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1648984?ln=en).
- 53. WHO Independent high-level commission on noncommunicable diseases: final report: it's time to walk the talk. World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330023).
- 54. The sustainable development agenda [website]. New York: United Nations (https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/development-agenda/).
- 55. SDG indicators: metadata repository [database]. United Nations (https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/metadata?Text=&Goal=3&Target=3.4).
- 56. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274603).

- 57. World Health Organization, World Bank. Tracking universal health coverage: 2017 global monitoring report: executive summary. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260522).
- 58. WHO global report on trends in prevalence of tobacco use 2000–2025, 4th ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/348537).
- 59. The Sustainable Development Goals report 2021. New York: United Nations; 2021 (https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2021/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2021.pdf).
- What is One Health? [website] One Health Commission (https://www.onehealthcommission.org/en/why\_one\_health/what\_is\_one\_health).
- 61. Adelaide statement II on health in all policies: implementing the Sustainable Development Agenda through good governance for health and well-being: building on the experience of health in all policies. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331585).
- Declaration of Astana: Global Conference on Primary Health Care: Astana, Kazakhstan, 25 and 26 October 2018. World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/328123).
- Universal health coverage [website]. World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/universal-health-coverage-(uhc)).
- 64. Resolution 67/81. Global health and foreign policy. Adopted by the General Assembly on 12 December 2012. New York: United Nations (A/RES/67/81; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/746671?ln=en).
- Resolution WHA72.2. Primary health care. In: Seventy-second World Health Assembly: Geneva, 20-28 May 2019: resolutions and decisions; annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019:5–7 (WHA72/2019/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331821).
- 66. Resolution WHA72.3. Community health workers delivering primary health care: opportunities and challenges. In: Seventy-second World Health Assembly: Geneva, 20-28 May 2019: resolutions and decisions; annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019:7–11 (WHA72/2019/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331821).
- 67. Resolution 74/2. Political declaration of the high-level meeting on universal health coverage. New York: United Nations; 2019 (A/RES/74/2; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3833350?ln=en).
- 68. United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), World Health Organization. Operational framework for primary health care: transforming vision into action. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/337641).
- 69. WHO package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions for primary health care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/334186).
- WHOPEN app (https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=org.who.WHOPEN&hl=en&gl=US, accessed 5 May 2022) and (https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/whopen/id1566338877, accessed 5 May 2022).
- 71. UHC Compendium [database] (https://www.who.int/universal-health-coverage/compendium, accessed 5 May 2022).
- 72. Stronger collaboration, better health: global action plan for healthy lives and well-being for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/327841).

- 73. Sharjah Declaration on NCDs: civil society united towards 2030. NCD Alliance; 2015 (https://ncdalliance.org/sites/default/files/rfiles/Sharjah%20Declaration\_FV\_eng.pdf).
- 74. Political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. Mid-point evaluation of the implementation of the WHO global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020. Executive summary. Report by the Secretariat. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (A74/10 Add.1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/357858).
- 75. Political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. Report by the Director-General. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (EB148/7; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/359404).
- 76. Decision WHA72(11). Follow-up to the political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. In: Seventy-second World Health Assembly. Geneva, 20–28 May 2019. Resolution and decisions annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019:49–51 (WHA72/2019/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331821).
- 77. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023.
- WHO global action plan on physical activity 2018–2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (WHA 71.6; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/279499).
- 79. Political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: report by the Director-General. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (EB150/7; https://apps.who.int/gb/e/e\_eb150.html).
- 80. Noncommunicable diseases progress monitor 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/353048).
- Decision EB150(4). Political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. In: Executive Board 150th session: Geneva, 24–29 January 2022: resolutions and decisions: annexes. World Health Organization; 2022:14 (EB150/2022/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/358983).
- 82. Resolution WHA71.6. WHO's global action plan on physical activity 2018–2030. In: Seventy-first World Health Assembly: Geneva, 21-26 May 2018: resolutions and decisions; annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018:13–15 (WHA71.6; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326571).
- The WHO CVD Risk Chart Working Group. World Health Organization cardiovascular disease risk charts: revised models to estimate risk in 21 global regions. Lancet Global Health. 2019;7(10): e1332– 45 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30318-3).
- 84. WHO NCD Accountability Framework, including Global Monitoring Framework for NCD prevention and control (2021 update) in alignment with the extension of the NCD Global Action Plan to 2030 (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/ncds/ncd-surveillance/who-ncd-accountabilityframework-for-ncd-implementation-roadmap.pdf?sfvrsn=346fb61b\_1&download=true).
- 85. Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: Report by the Secretariat. Sixty-seventh World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. (A67/14; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/152571).
- NCD country capacity survey [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/teams/ncds/surveillance/monitoring-capacity/ncdccs, accessed 5 May 2022).

- 87. Noncommunicable diseases progress monitor 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330805).
- NCD global monitoring framework [website] (https://www.who.int/teams/ncds/surveillance/monitoring-capacity/gmf, accessed 5 May 2022).
- Triple billion dashboard [online tool]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/data/triple-billion-dashboard).
- 90. How WHO will report in 2017 to the United Nations General Assembly on the progress achieved in the implementation of commitments included in the 2011 UN Political Declaration and 2014 UN Outcome Document on NCDs. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/ publications/m/item/technical-note-how-who-will-report-on-progress-in-2017-to-unga).
- 91. Noncommunicable diseases: progress monitor 2015. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/184688).
- 92. Noncommunicable diseases: progress monitor 2017. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258940).
- 93. Noncommunicable diseases country profiles 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274512).
- 94. Collins TE, Nugent R, Webb D, Placella E, Evans T, Akinnawo A. Time to align: development cooperation for the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. BMJ. 2019;366:l4499 (https://www.bmj.com/content/366/bmj.l4499).
- 95. Note by the Secretary-General transmitting the report by the Director-General of the World Health Organization on the global status of non-communicable diseases, with a particular focus on the development challenges faced by developing countries. New York: United Nations; 2010 (A/65/362; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/691392?ln=en).
- 96. Prevention and control of non-communicable diseases: report of the Secretary-General. New York: United Nations; 2011 (A/66/83; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/704820?ln=en).
- 97. Note by the Secretary-General transmitting the report of the Director-General of the World Health Organization on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. New York: United Nations; 2013 (A/68/650; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/763111?ln=en).
- 98. Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. WHO's role in the preparation, implementation and follow-up to the high-level meeting of the United Nations General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (September 2011): report by the Secretariat. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (EB12/17; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/3219).
- 99. Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. Outcomes of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases and the First Global Ministerial Conference on Healthy Lifestyles and Noncommunicable Disease Control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (EB130/6; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/23733).
- 100. Follow-up to the 2014 high-level meeting of the United Nations General Assembly to undertake a comprehensive review and assessment of the progress achieved in the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: report by the Director-General. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (A68/11; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/252839).
- 101. Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: responses to specific assignments in preparation for the third high-level meeting of the United Nations General Assembly on the

prevention and control of non-communicable diseases in 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (EB138.R4; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250788).

- 102. Preparation for the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases, to be held in 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHA70.11; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/275670).
- 103. Preparation for the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases, to be held in 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (WHA71.2; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/279458).
- 104. Follow-up to the high-level meetings of the United Nations General Assembly on health-related issues: prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: report by the Director-General. Geneva; World Health Organization; 2019 (A72/19; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/328648).
- 105. Follow-up to the high-level meetings of the United Nations General Assembly on health-related issues: political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases: report by the Director-General. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (EB146/7; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/355903).
- 106. Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015. New York: United Nations; 2015 (A/RES/70/1; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3923923?ln=en).
- 107. Global Burden of Disease Health Financing Collaborator Network. Past, present, and future of global health financing: a review of development assistance, government, out-of-pocket, and other private spending on health for 195 countries, 1995–2050. Lancet. 2019 Jun 1;393(10187):2233-2260. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30841-4. Epub 2019 Apr 25. Erratum in: Lancet. 2021 Sep 11;398(10304):956. PMID: 31030984; PMCID: PMC6548764.
- 108. Tackling NCDs: "best buys" and other recommended interventions for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259232).
- United Nations Inter-Agency Task Force on NCDS (UNIATF) [website] (https://www.who.int/groups/un-inter-agency-task-force-on-NCDs, accessed 5 May 2022).
- Resolution 69/313. The Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development (Addis Ababa Action Agenda). Adopted by the General Assembly on 27 July 2015. New York: United Nations; 2016 (A/RES/69/313; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/801013?ln=en).
- 111. Global Coordination Mechanism on the Prevention and Control of NCDs [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/groups/gcm/about, accessed 5 May 2022).
- 112. The future we want: outcome of the Conference on Sustainable Development, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 20–22 June 2012 (A/CONF216/L.1; https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3826773?ln=en).
- 113. Seventy-first Regional Committee for Africa. Progress report on the regional framework for integrating essential noncommunicable disease services in primary health care: information document. Brazzaville: WHO Regional Office for Africa; 2021 (AFR/RC71/INF.DOC/4; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345400).
- 114. Seventy-third Regional Committee of WHO for the Americas; virtual session, 20–24 September 2021. Final report. Washington, DC: WHO Regional Office for the Americas; 2021 (CD59/FR; https://www.paho.org/en/governing-bodies/directing-council/59th-directing-council).

- Progress report on accelerating regional implementation of the political declaration of the third highlevel meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases, 2018. Cairo: WHO Regional Office for Eastern Mediterranean; 2021 (EM/RC68/INF.DOC.8; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/346441).
- 116. Seventy-first Regional Committee for Europe: virtual session, 13–15 September 2021: report of the 71st session of the WHO Regional Committee for Europe. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2022 (EUR/RC71/REP; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351410).
- 117. Seventy-fourth Regional Committee for South-East Asia Region: virtual session, 6–10 September 2021. Provisional Agenda Item 8.1. Accelerating progress on prevention and control of NCDs including oral health and integrated eye care in the WHO South-East Asia Region. Delhi: WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2021 (SEA/RC74/6 Rev. 1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/343753).
- 118. Revitalizing school health programmes and health-promoting schools in the South-East Asia Region. Delhi: WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/344391).
- Seventy-second session of the Regional Committee for the Western Pacific, Himeji, Japan, 25–29
   October 2021 [website]. Final report of the regional committee. Manila: WHO Regional Office for
   Western Pacific

(https://www.who.int/westernpacific/about/governance/regional-committee/session-72).

- 120. WHO package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions for primary health care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/334186).
- 121. MPOWER [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/initiatives/mpower, accessed 30 May 2022).
- 122. To be found on: World Health Organization/Institutional Repository for Information Sharing (IRIS) (https://apps.who.int/iris/discover?query=global+tobacco+epidemic).
- 123. The SAFER initiative: a world free from alcohol related harm [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/initiatives/SAFER).
- 124. ACTIVE: a technical package for increasing physical activity. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/275415).
- 125. The SHAKE technical package for salt reduction. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250135).
- 126. REPLACE trans fat: an action package to eliminate industrially produced trans-fatty acids. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331301).
- 127. Partnership for Healthy Cities [website]. Bloomberg Philanthropies, World Health Organization, Vital Strategies (partnershipforhealthycities.bloomberg.org).
- 128. Decision WHA74(10). Follow-up of the political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. In: Seventy-fourth World Health Assembly. Geneva, 24 May–1 June 2021: resolutions and decisions, annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021:75 (WHA74/2021/REC/1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352594).

Department of Noncommunicable Diseases World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

https://www.who.int/teams/ noncommunicable-diseases

